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IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
HOUSTON DIVISION
In re ERNEST HARRIS CASE NO. 03-44826-H4-13
and MATTIE HARRIS,

Debtors,

ERNEST HARRIS

and MATTIE HARRIS, on behalf
of themselves

and all other similarly situated
Chapter 13 debtors,
ADVERSARY NO.
Plaintiffs,

VS.

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION
SERVICES INC. D/B/A FIDELITY
NATIONAL FORECLOSURE

& BANKRUTPCY SOLUTIONS,

wn W W W N N W LN LN N LN LN LN LN LN LN LY LY LN LN LN

Defendants.

COMPLAINT

Plaintiffs, Ernest Harris and his wife, Mattie Harris, individually and on behalf of all
other similarly situated Chapter 13 debtors, allege as follows:

NATURE OF THE CASE

1. This case involves the undisclosed kickback/sharing of bankruptcy creditor attorney
fees to a non-law firm corporate entity.

2. Mortgage servicers routinely appear in this Court seeking relief from the automatic
stay or in opposition to proposed chapter 13 plans. The Mortgage servicers appear
through counsel who announce their appearance on behalf of those mortgage

servicers.



Case 08-03014 Documentl Filed in TXSB on 01/16/2008 Page 2 of 36

But, unbeknownst to this Court, those counsel often answer not to the mortgage
servicers on whose behalf they appear, rather these counsel answer to an undisclosed
middleman such as the Defendants.

Defendants provide what is known in the mortgage-servicing industry as default
servicing. Loans which are subject to default servicing include loans which may be
subject to foreclosure and loans which are in bankruptcy.

Some of the services which are provided by default servicers such as the Defendants
include: 1) executing documents on behalf of the original servicer; 2) ordering and
providing broker price opinions; 3) track and provide fees for payoffs and
refinancings, and; 4) provide centralized billing to vendors.

An additional function of default servicing is the identification and retention of legal
services which may be necessary for any particular mortgage in default, e.g. noticing
and posting a property for foreclosure or seeking relief from the automatic stay in a
bankruptcy proceeding.

In managing the performance of the legal services for their mortgage servicing
clients, Defendants require law firms to execute a “Network Agreement,” which
details the agreement for services between the Defendants and the particular law firm.
The claims covered in this Complaint relate to the illegal fixing of fees in the
bankruptcy context and the requirement that law firms that execute the “Network
Agreement” to kickback a contractual prearranged fixed portion of their attorney fees

to the Defendant.
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10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

In reality, the Defendants are merely middlemen who, in effect, sell the legal business
of their mortgage-servicing customers, and secretly control and direct counsel who
appear on behalf of those mortgage-servicer customers.

For obvious reasons, these “Network Agreements,” as well as the kickbacks and
prearranged fixed fees which are dictated in the agreements are kept secret and the
disclosure requirements of the Bankruptcy Code and Rules are ignored.

Defendants’ secret kickback scheme also violates the U.S. Code, which makes it a
crime to knowingly and fraudulently agree to fix fees in a bankruptcy proceeding.

The Harrises and the Plaintiff Class seek relief from this Court to remedy these
violations.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

This action arises out of Sections 105, 362(k), and 506(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, 11
U.S.C. 88 105, 362(k), and 506(b), as well as Bankruptcy Rule 2016.
The Bankruptcy Court has jurisdiction over this action under 28 U.S.C. §8 1331 and
1334 and under the Order of Reference of bankruptcy cases and proceedings under 28
U.S.C. § 157.
This is a core proceeding under 28 U.S.C. 88§ 157 (a)(2)(A), (B), (K), and (O). This
adversary proceeding relates to the Chapter 13 case, In Re Harris, Case No. 03-
44826-H4-13, In the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of
Texas, Houston Division.

PARTIES
Plaintiffs Ernest Harris and Mattie Harris are Chapter 13 debtors whose bankruptcy

proceeding is pending in this Court. The Harrises assert the claims herein individually
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17.

18.

19.

20.

and on behalf of a class of similarly situated Chapter 13 debtors who have been
subject to the collection activities of the Defendants, their mortgage servicing
customers and their stable of “network attorneys.”

Defendant Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. is a Delaware corporation with
its principal place of business at 601 Riverside Avenue, Jacksonville, Florida 32204-
2901. Fidelity does not appear to maintain a registered agent for service of process in
Texas, despite its specific contacts with Texas businesses and individuals related to
this case and systematic and continuous contacts with Texas to boot. Fidelity can be
served through its registered agent for service of process, Corporation Trust
Company, Corporation Trust Center, 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, Delaware
19801.

Defendant Fidelity National Foreclosure Solutions, Inc. (f/k/a Fidelity National
Foreclosure & Bankruptcy Solutions), is a Delaware corporation with its principal
place of business at 1270 Northland Drive, Suite 200, Mendota Heights, Minnesota
55120. Fidelity National Foreclosure Solutions, Inc. can be served through its
registered agent for service of process, the Corporation Trust Company, Corporation

Trust Center, 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, Delaware 19801.

FIDELITY: SECRET PUPPETMASTER OF CREDITORS’ LAWYERS

Mortgage servicing companies such as Saxon Mortgage Services, Inc. (“Saxon”) (the
mortgage-servicing company that appeared in the Harrises’ Chapter 13) and many
others routinely appear in this court as creditors in Chapter 13 bankruptcies.

Fidelity acts as a secret middleman between many of these mortgage companies and

the law firms that appear on behalf of the mortgage servicers. According to its
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21.

22,

23.

24,

25.

Executive Chairman, Fidelity’s “Lender Processing Services” provides
“comprehensive data, servicing, and technology solutions to large-scale mortgage
servicing lenders.”

In fact, Fidelity’s “comprehensive” role is really that of secret puppetmaster of the
law firms that appear in this Court on behalf of mortgage servicing lenders. These
law firms (in the Harrises’ case, Mann & Stevens, P.C.) collect their fees by tendering
their bills through Fidelity and then on to the mortgage servicer — in this case Saxon,
which then charge debtors, like the Harrises, without ever obtaining this Court’s
approval.

Saxon either obtains cash payments of these fees or adds the indebtedness to debtor
accounts. The debtors often only become aware of this years later, typically when
they sell their home or refinance, only to discover an extra few hundred or thousand
dollars required to release this lien.

In the Harrises proceeding, Saxon, through Fidelity, charged the Harrises both in cash
and by adding to their indebtedness.

The fees the Fidelity-controlled law firms charge in Chapter 13 bankruptcies are
inflated by 25% to 50%. The law firms, like Mann & Stevens, P.C., kick back the
extra to Fidelity as part of Fidelity’s nationwide “Network Agreement” governing its
relationships with these law firms. Again, Fidelity keeps its role, as well as the
kickback, hidden from the courts as a matter of systematic policy.

Fidelity’s conduct is criminal under 18 U.S.C. 8§ 155, which provides that any party in
interest commits a crime when that entity or its representative “knowingly and

fraudulently enters into an agreement” for the purpose of fixing the fees or other
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26.

27.

28.

29.

compensation to be paid to any party in interest or to any attorney for any party in
interest for services rendered in connection therewith, from the assets of the estate.”
Under section 155, this conduct is punishable by both fines and prison time.

Fidelity’s conduct places its “Network™ attorneys in violation of multiple ethical rules
forbidding fee-splitting. For example, the State Bar Rules provide that “[a] lawyer . .
shall not share or promise to share legal fees with a nonlawyer,” with exceptions
inapplicable here. See Tex. R. Prof. Cond. 5.04(a).

Fidelity’s “Network Agreements” with its “Network” attorneys reflect Fidelity’s
systematic participation in a fee-splitting scheme that occurs routinely in Court cases
but without this Court’s knowledge.

In addition to the criminal and ethical prohibitions against fee-splitting, the
Bankruptcy Code and Bankruptcy Rules impose additional restrictions on the
charging of attorneys’ fees. As this Court has concluded, Rule 2016°s requirement of
disclosure of fees “goes hand in glove with the overall purposes of § 506(b) — to
protect estate assets from excessive fees charged by oversecured creditors and their
overzealous attorneys.” Sanchez v. Ameriquest, (In re Sanchez), 372 B.R. 289, 304
(Bankr. S.D. Tex 2007) (citations omitted)

Rule 2016 specifically requires disclosure of fee-splitting arrangements like this.
However, Fidelity deliberately keeps its fee-generation and kickback scheme (and its
role as puppetmaster of creditors’ lawyers) secret, thereby rendering all fees collected

in connection therewith per se unreasonable.
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30.

Fidelity’s role as secret puppetmaster over creditor law firms like Mann & Stevens
renders Fidelity jointly and severally liable for all these fees under the law of civil

conspiracy.

FIDELITY’S SECRET DEALS WITH MORTGAGE COMPANIES AND LAW FIRMS

31.

32.

33.

34.

35.

Fidelity uses two sets of agreements in its systematic secret kickback scam: its
“Default Services Agreement” with mortgage servicers like Saxon, and its “Network
Agreement” with its law firms like Mann & Stevens.

The Default Services Agreement. First, Fidelity obtains its “Default Services

Agreements” with various mortgage servicing companies. Figure 1 below illustrates

these relationships:

ABC

Mortgage
Bank A
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| Faoreclosure |
Saxon |\ and Bankruptcy
\ Solutions /
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./'/
XYZ o
Mortgage
Bank

Figure 1: Fidelity’s “Default Services Agreements” with Mortgage Companies

Under the “Default Services Agreement,” mortgage servicers cede control over their
accounting and legal affairs, and the hiring of the lawyers who appear on their behalf,
to Fidelity.

Fidelity obtains the right and power to choose and manage and set the fees for the law
firms that will appear on behalf of the mortgage servicing company.

Fidelity and each mortgage servicer signatory to the Default Services Agreement

agree to keep the terms of the agreement secret.
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36.

37.

38.

39.

40.

Again, Fidelity never appears as a party. Thus, when mortgage servicers like Saxon
appear in this Court, their lawyers act at the behest of their secret puppetmaster,
Fidelity, about whose role this Court knows little or nothing.

Fidelity’s operation in the shadows ensures that this Court never deals with the real
decision maker — Fidelity.

Because Fidelity shrouds in darkness its role as the secret client directing mortgage
servicer law firms like Mann & Stevens, Fidelity deserves special scrutiny from this
Court. And because Fidelity keeps its role a secret, none of the attorney’s fees it
causes Saxon to collect (both those kicked back to it and those that “Network”
attorneys keep) satisfy the disclosure or approval requirements of Rule 2016 and this
Court.

Moreover, because Fidelity keeps its role a secret while exercising control over its
“Network” attorneys such as Mann & Stevens, the law of civil conspiracy makes
Fidelity liable for disgorgement and/or reversal of charges of all fees in which
Fidelity received a kickback.

The “Network Agreement” Between Fidelity and “Network” Law Firms. When

Fidelity hires law firms like Mann & Stevens to represent mortgage servicers like
Saxon, Fidelity uses systematic, standardized, and secret retention agreements, called
“Network Agreements,” to govern how those firms will represent Saxon (again, with

Fidelity in the shadows), as depicted in Figure 2:



Case 08-03014 Documentl Filed in TXSB on 01/16/2008 Page 9 of 36

Lawyer & Associates
law firm — in the guise of
counsel to ABC Mortgage Bank

Fidelity National
Foreclosure

Mann & Stephens law firm
—in the guise of
counsel to Saxon

\ Attorney & Attorney law firm

—in the guise of
counsel to XYZ Mortgage Bank

and Bankruptcy
Solutions

Figure 2: Fidelity’s Law Firm “Network”

41. Using this “nationwide network” of law firms, combined with the claims of mortgage
service companies like Saxon, Fidelity skims bankrupt debtors through its kickback
scheme. Under its “Network Agreements,” each of Fidelity’s “Network” law firms
charges fees for litigating claims against Chapter 13 debtors, but kicks back a portion
of those fees to Fidelity. Again, this Court never learns of Fidelity, let alone the
kickbacks.

THE HARRISES — FIDELITY’S SCHEME IN ACTION

42.  The Bankruptcy Code forbids creditors like Fidelity/Saxon from collecting post-
petition attorneys’ fees without full disclosure and scrutiny. But the secret kickbacks
of attorneys’ fees to the well-hidden Fidelity presents violations far worse than the

garden-variety scams that this Court has begun to address in the past few months.
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43.

44,

45.

46.

47.

Fidelity/Saxon’s Objection to Harrises’ Plan:
$200 in Attorneys’ Fees, $50 Kicked Back to Fidelity

Creditor objections to debtors’ proposed Chapter 13 plans provides an opportunity for
Fidelity to skim money from debtors in many cases. For example, in the Harrises’
case, in December 2003, Fidelity (acting through Saxon and Mann & Stevens) filed
an objection to the Harrises’ Chapter 13 plan before the plan was confirmed.

Mann & Stevens charged Saxon $200 for this work, pursuant to Fidelity’s “Network
Agreement.”

Saxon paid Mann & Stevens the $200.00 attorney fee, charged the Harrises $200.00
and then, under the “Network Agreement,” Mann & Stevens kicked back $50 of that
fee to Fidelity — secretly, outside the detection of this Court.

Fidelity kept this kickback secret because it knew full well that this Court, the
Bankruptcy Code and the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure forbids that
practice.

The addition of the full $200.00 to the Harrises’ mortgage account had the effect of
(1) increasing the debt of the Harrises and of their bankruptcy estate, and (2)
increasing the amount of estate property necessary for the Harrises to enjoy a true
fresh start through their bankruptcy proceeding. In this way, the Harrises and other
debtors have little inkling that, upon a refinancing or a sale, the mortgage company
will tell them that they have to pay hundreds or thousands more to release their lien,
or that upon receiving their discharge that they will be liable for those amounts in

order to have a current mortgage.

10
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48.

49.

50.

51.

52.

53.

Fidelity/Saxon’s Motion for Relief from Stay:
$650 in Attorneys’ Fees, $150 Kicked Back to Fidelity

Another example of Fidelity’s fee-splitting occurs when Fidelity files, again through
its “Network Attorneys” and mortgage servicing companies like Saxon, motions for
relief for automatic stay in which Fidelity/mortgage servicing co. allege the debtor
missed payments, failed to carry insurance on a home, or committed other acts of
default.
Again, that is what happened with the Harrises. Fidelity/Saxon and Fidelity’s
“Network” law firm of Mann & Stevens, filed a motion for relief from the automatic
stay against the Harrises in April 2004.
On information and belief, Saxon paid Mann & Stevens $650 in fees for this work.
Fidelity/Saxon charged the Harrises for these fees and collected these fees in six
monthly installments of $148.55 (charging interest for the extra time) pursuant to an
Agreed Order.
However, under the “Network Agreement,” Mann & Stevens secretly kicked back
$150 of that fee to Fidelity.
The $650.00 was disclosed and was contained in the Agreed Order, but neither Saxon
nor Mann & Stevens ever disclosed the $150.00 kick-back to Fidelity.

CLASSWIDE INJUNCTIVE RELIEF AND

CORRESPONDING DECLARATORY AND EQUITABLE RELIEF
(CREDIT, REFUND, AND DISGORGEMENT)

Multiplying the amounts the Harrises paid times thousands of debtors, it amounts to
hundreds of thousands (if not millions) of dollars for conduct that perniciously

undermines this Court’s jurisdiction and the integrity of the bankruptcy system.

11
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The individual charges are small in principal, but extremely large when viewed
within all the chapter 13 proceedings in the Southern District of Texas.

Indeed, this problem — Fidelity’s express and systematic receipt of kickbacks and
secret control of law firms who appear before this Court as representing others —
presents an ongoing assault on the Harrises, the class, and this Court’s jurisdiction for
which no adequate remedy at law exists.

The Harrises and the plaintiff class are entitled to an equitable decree enjoining
Fidelity from making any further efforts to collect fees with kickbacks, as well as
corresponding declaratory and equitable relief (i) reversing the existing charges that
remain on the Harrises account, and (ii) disgorging the monies Fidelity has already
collected from them.

This decree is central to remedying Fidelity’s conduct, both as to the Harrises and to
the class.

This Court can easily oversee Fidelity’s accounting and computation of this relief by
means of objective data from Fidelity’s own records. The tabulation will follow the

format below:

Debtor Injunction Declaration reversing charges | Declaration/equitable relief
disgorging fees collected

Chapter 13 Uniform and $200 plus interest for fees that | $819.13 plus interest for fees
Debtors Ernest | classwide relief Fidelity placed on Harrises’ | Harrises paid*
and Mattie from Fidelity’s account*
Harris continued

systematic practice

of collecting fees

with kickbacks
Chapter 13 Uniform and $__ (per Fidelity’s database) | $_ (per Fidelity’s database)
Debtor John classwide relief for fees that Fidelity placed on | for fees paid
Doe from Fidelity’s debtor John Doe’s account

continued

systematic practice

of collecting fees

with kickbacks
Chapter 13 Uniform and $ __ (per Fidelity’s database) | $__ (per Fidelity’s database)

12
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Debtor Jane
Doe

classwide relief
from Fidelity’s
continued
systematic practice
of collecting fees
with kickbacks

for fees that Fidelity placed on
debtor Jane Doe’s account

for fees paid

Chapter 13
Debtor John
Smith

Uniform and
classwide relief
from Fidelity’s

$_ (per Fidelity’s database)
for fees that Fidelity placed on
debtor John Smith’s account

$  (per Fidelity’s database)
for fees paid

continued
systematic practice
of collecting fees
with kickbacks

TOTAL Uniform and $__ (per Fidelity’s database) | $__ (per Fidelity’s database)

classwide relief for fees that Fidelity placed on | for fees paid
from Fidelity’s debtors’ accounts
continued
systematic practice
of collecting fees
with kickbacks

*Based on Mann & Stevens’s invoices

59.

60.

61.

62.

Fidelity has a sophisticated data-management system that makes computing the relief
simple. This Court can and should remedy Fidelity’s misconduct by use of the same
classwide tools with which Fidelity carried it out.

CLASS ALLEGATIONS

Plaintiffs bring this action individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated as
members of a proposed plaintiff class pursuant to Fed. R. Bankr. P. 7023.

The class that plaintiffs seek to represent consists of all Chapter 13 debtors in the
Southern District of Texas who are (a) presently subject to any claim of any kind by
Fidelity, Fidelity’s clients, and/or Fidelity’s Local Counsel/“Network” Attorneys and
(b) against whom Fidelity and its Network Attorneys have kicked back attorneys’ fee
payments from attorneys pursuant to Fidelity’s Network Agreements.

This action may be properly maintained as a class action pursuant to Fed. R. Bankr.

P. 7023.

13
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63.

64.

65.

66.

67.

68.

69.

The members of the class are so numerous that joinder of their individual claims is
impracticable. The precise number of class members and their addresses are
presently unknown to plaintiffs but are easily obtained from Fidelity’s systematically
maintained “Fidelity Software,” under which Fidelity tracks its “Network” attorneys’
activities.

Class members can be notified of the pendency of this action by publication in
newspapers, by mailed notice, and by other means.

Fidelity intentionally operates its “Network” attorney fee-collection and fee-kickback
scheme on a systematic, class-wide basis.

Fidelity used systematic recordkeeping software, policies, and procedures to
effectuate its secret and illegal scheme of collecting attorneys’ fees without court
approval and receiving systematically calculated kickbacks of those fees, again
without court approval and with knowledge that no court would ever tolerate
Fidelity’s practice.

Therefore, common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the class.
These common questions predominate over questions affecting only individual class
members.

The Harrises’ claims are typical of the claims of the members of the class they seek to
represent.

The Harrises and the class members are Chapter 13 debtors in whose bankruptcy
proceedings Fidelity hired “Network” attorneys to appear on behalf of mortgage

servicers asserting claims against the debtor class.

14
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70.

71.

72,

73.

74.

75.

76.

77,

78.

Fidelity used the same secret fee-collection and fee-splitting/kickback scheme against
the Harrises and the class members on a systematic basis.

The Harrises adequately represent the class.

Their interests do not conflict with the interests of the class members they seek to
represent.

Plaintiffs have retained counsel who are competent and experienced in complex class
action and bankruptcy litigation.

The Harrises are committed to seeking a classwide injunction, with corresponding
classwide declaratory and equitable relief, because any mere monetary recovery on
their existing claims would do nothing to stop Fidelity from committing the same
violations in the future against them and the rest of the class.

The Harrises understand from their own experience that debtors like themselves are
highly vulnerable and depend upon the integrity of the bankruptcy courts to help them
preserve what precious little they have. Nothing short of classwide injunctive relief
will work.

Finally, the Harrises and their counsel intend to prosecute this action vigorously.

The interests of the members of the class will be fairly and adequately protected by
plaintiffs and their counsel.

The interests of the Harrises are coincident with, and not antagonistic to, those of the
class members. Without representatives like the Harrises, Fidelity would continue to
undermine and subvert this Court’s jurisdiction and mulct Chapter 13 debtors in

willful defiance of the law.

15
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79.

80.

81.

82.

83.

84.

85.

86.

87.

The class action device is far superior to other available means for the fair and
efficient adjudication of the claims of plaintiffs and of the class.

Judicial management of this litigation is essential because of the pernicious and
secretive conduct of Fidelity in Chapter 13 bankruptcies that jeopardizes, on a
systematic basis, the integrity of the bankruptcy process and this Court’s jurisdiction.
This class action is the only method by which all of the class members’ common
claims can economically and expeditiously be adjudicated in one proceeding and
thereby preclude the possibility of multiple trials and inconsistent judgments
throughout this District.

COUNT 1
VIOLATION OF BANKRUPTCY CODE § 506(b)

(INJUNCTIVE RELIEF UNDER BANKRUPTCY CODE § 105(a) AND
CORRESPONDING DECLARATORY AND EQUITABLE RELIEF)

The Harrises incorporate the allegations set forth above as if set forth in full herein.
Fidelity’s secret fee-splitting arrangement with its Network Attorneys constitutes a
violation of Bankruptcy Code § 506(b).

Section 506(b) specifically limits creditors to charging only “reasonable” fees, costs,
or charges in Chapter 13 bankruptcies.

In systematically charging fees from which secret kickbacks are paid, Fidelity has
committed a per se violation of 8 506(b).

Fidelity not only failed to apply for the fees it charged and received from plaintiffs, it
never even appeared in plaintiffs’ bankruptcy.

This pattern of secrecy is systematic and codified in Fidelity’s own agreements with

its Client/Mortgage Servicing Lenders and its “Network™ attorneys.

16
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88.

89.

90.

91.

92.

Pursuant to 11 U.S.C. 88 105 and 506(b), the Harrises and the plaintiffs class they
represent seek an equitable decree from this Court that enjoins Fidelity from
continuing its illegal collection of fee-splitting charges in violation of section 506(b)
and corresponding declaratory and equitable relief (i) reversing all attorneys’ fees
charged that contain a kickback and (ii) refunding and disgorging any such fees (and
interest thereon) that Fidelity has already collected.
COUNT 2
VIOLATION OF RULE 2016(a)

(INJUNCTIVE RELIEF UNDER BANKRUPTCY CODE § 105(a) AND
CORRESPONDING DECLARATORY AND EQUITABLE RELIEF)

The Harrises incorporate the allegations set forth above as if set forth in full herein.
Fidelity’s secret receipt of fees from its Network Attorneys constitutes a violation of
Fed. R. Bankr. P. 2016(a).

Rule 2016(a) specifically requires creditors seeking reimbursement of expenses to
disclose “agreement[s]” or “understanding[s]” regarding “sharing of compensation
received or to be received for services rendered in or in connection with the case, and
the particulars of any sharing of compensation or agreement or understanding
therefor.”

Fidelity violates Rule 2016(a) systematically and as a matter of corporate policy; it is
codified in Fidelity’s own agreements with its Client/Mortgage Servicers and its
“Network Attorneys,” as well as in the policies, procedures, software, and
management structure by which Fidelity executes its secret fee-collection, fee-

splitting/kickback scheme.

17
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93.

94.

95.

96.

97.

98.

In case after case, Fidelity fails to apply for the fees it collects, fails to disclose its
fee-splitting arrangement with the lawyers it controls, and conceals its very existence
from this Court, again as a matter of corporate policy.

Pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 105 and Fed. R. Bankr. P. 2016(a), the Harrises and the
plaintiffs class they represent seek an equitable decree from this Court that enjoins
Fidelity from continuing its illegal collection of fee-splitting charges in violation of
Rule 2016(a) and corresponding declaratory and equitable relief (i) reversing all
attorneys’ fees charged that contain a kickback and (ii) refunding and disgorging any
such fees (and interest thereon) that Fidelity has already collected.

COUNT 3

BREACH OF CONTRACT

(WITH INJUNCTIVE RELIEF UNDER BANKRUPTCY CODE 8§ 105(a) AND

CORRESPONDING DECLARATORY AND EQUITABLE RELIEF)

The Harrises incorporate the allegations set forth above as if set forth in full herein.

A confirmed plan constitutes a new contract between the debtor and creditors.
Creditors are limited to those rights that they are afforded under the plan, which
means they may not take actions inconsistent with the method of payment under the
plan.

After plan confirmation, Fidelity’s secret receipt of fees from its Network Attorneys
constitutes a breach of contract.

The Harrises and the plaintiffs class they represent seek an equitable decree from this
Court that enjoins Fidelity from continuing its illegal collection of fee-splitting
charges in breach of confirmed plans of every Chapter 13 debtor in whose

bankruptcies Fidelity’s “Network™ attorneys appear, and corresponding declaratory

18
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99.

and equitable relief (i) reversing all attorneys’ fees charged that contain a kickback
and (ii) refunding and disgorging any such fees (and interest thereon) that Fidelity has
already collected.

The Harrises and the plaintiff class are also entitled under 838.001 of the Texas Civil
Practice & Remedies Code to their attorneys’ fees their counsel have incurred in
investigation and prosecution of Fidelity’s scheme, the truth of which Fidelity has
hidden in its secret arrangements with mortgage lenders/services like Saxon.

COUNT 4

VIOLATION OF AUTOMATIC STAY

(WITH INJUNCTIVE RELIEF UNDER BANKRUPTCY CODE 8§ 105(a) AND

100.

101.

102.

103.

CORRESPONDING DECLARATORY AND EQUITABLE RELIEF)

The Harrises incorporate the allegations set forth above as if set forth in full herein.
Under 11 U.S.C. § 362(a)(3), creditors are forbidden from engaging in any act to
obtain property of the estate.

Fidelity’s secret and illegal fee-collecting and fee-splitting/kickback scheme and
participation in collection of all undisclosed and unapproved fees constitute
systematic acts to obtain property of the estate of each Chapter 13 debtor in the class.
Based on the violations of the automatic stay, the Harrises and the plaintiff class they
represent seek an equitable decree from this Court that enjoins Fidelity from
continuing its illegal fee-splitting practices in violation of 11 U.S.C. § 362(a)(3), and
corresponding declaratory and equitable relief (i) reversing all attorneys’ fees charged
that contain a kickback and (ii) refunding and disgorging any such fees (and interest

thereon) that Fidelity has already collected.
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104.

105.

106.

107.

108.

109.

Under 11 U.S.C. 362(h)*, the Harrises and the plaintiff class action are also entitled to
their attorneys’ fees and costs their counsel have incurred in the investigation and
prosecution of Fidelity’s willful and willfully concealed classwide violation of the
automatic stay.
Because this case involves Fidelity’s systematically hidden, knowing and willful
conduct in deliberate and flagrant violation of the Bankruptcy Code, Bankruptcy
Rules, and the Federal criminal and State Bar ethical prohibitions against fee-
splitting, Fidelity’s conduct warrants the imposition of punitive damages on the
amount of at least three times the other monetary relief this Court awards the plaintiff
class and its counsel, as provided under 11 U.S.C. 362(h).
COUNT 5

CIVIL CONSPIRACY
The Harrises incorporate the allegations set forth above as if set forth in full herein.
Fidelity and its mortgage-servicer clients such as Saxon and its “Network” attorney
such as Mann & Stevens have knowledge of, have agreed to, and have intended a
common objective and course of action of reaping secret fees from debtors that has
resulted in systematic monetary injury to debtors such as the Harrises.
On information and belief, the conspiracy continues to this day.
Fidelity knows that each time Saxon or another of its mortgage-servicer clients

charges debtors’ accounts for attorney’s fees with a contractual kickback to Fidelity,

1

This complaint refers to § 362(h) because that provision applies to the Harrises’ Chapter 13 proceeding,

filed in 2003, before Congress corrected the Bankruptcy Abuse and Consumer Protection Act of 2005 (“the Reform
Act”), which addressed § 362 so that old § 362(h) becomes § 362(k). However, the Reform Act provides, with
immaterial exceptions, that it “shall not apply with respect to cases commenced under title 11, United States Code,
before the effective date of this Act.” See, e.g., In re McKinney, 457 F.3d 623, 624 (7" Cir. 2006).
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110.

111.

112.

113.

114.

115.

that charge is false, wrongful, and forbidden under the Bankruptcy Code, Bankruptcy
Rules, State Bar Rules, and Federal criminal code.

Fidelity systematically conceals all these fees — both the portions of fees that
Fidelity’s “Network Attorneys” kickback to Fidelity as well as the fees that Fidelity
permits its “Network Attorneys” to keep — from the Court.

Fidelity, through its “Network Agreements” and “Default Services Agreements,”
undertakes central acts in furtherance of its conspiracy through, among other things,
(2) hiding behind the identity of its mortgage-company clients like Saxon, and using
Saxon’s name, in charging these fees; and (2) using systematic policies governing its
“Network” attorneys like Mann & Stevens as puppets with which Fidelity can create
this massive revenue stream, disguised as fees.

Fidelity knows that the source of this secret revenue stream comes from the Chapter
13 debtors during the bankruptcy proceedings over which this Court maintains
exclusive jurisdiction.

Fidelity knows that debtors like the Harrises shoulder these burdens wholly ignorant
of Fidelity’s secret scheme. Fidelity knows that it and its mortgage-servicer clients
generate this fee revenue free from the scrutiny of this Court.

Fidelity knows that this Court would never permit a creditor to generate attorney-fee
revenue let alone pay kickbacks dictated by Fidelity to its “Network” attorneys — in
such flagrant violation of the law.

Because Fidelity’s active and central role in the civil conspiracy to collect these fees,
this Court’s decree should hold Fidelity jointly and severally liable for all fees that the

Harrises and the class have paid to Mann & Stevens and the other puppet-like
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116.

117.

118.

119.

120.

121.

a.

“Network” attorneys who purport to represent mortgage lenders while Fidelity
secretly pulls their strings.
COUNT 6

PUNITIVE DAMAGES
The Harrises incorporate the allegations set forth above as if set forth in full herein.
Fidelity is liable to the debtor class for punitive damages under 8 362(h) because it
acted in bad faith and/or with actual knowledge that it was violating a federally
protected right or with reckless disregard of whether it was doing so.
The award for punitive damage in this case must be adequately large to reflect two
important goals.
The Court’s award of punitive damages must reflect the reprehensible nature of
Fidelity’s conduct in its flagrant violation of the Bankruptcy Code and Rules, the
Federal criminal prohibitions on fee-splitting in bankruptcies, and the Texas Rules of
Professional Conduct forbidding fee-splitting.
The Court’s award of punitive damages must also reflect the significant societal
interest in preventing Fidelity and other similarly-situated creditors from engaging in
this kind of criminal and unethical conduct in future bankruptcies.

Prayer for Relief

Based on the foregoing, the Harrises and the plaintiff class pray that this matter be
called to trial and, upon the presentation of its evidence, the Court award against
Fidelity:

An equitable decree from this Court that enjoins Fidelity from continuing its

illegal fee-splitting practices;
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b. Corresponding declaratory and equitable relief (i) reversing all attorneys’ fees
charged that contain a kickback and (ii) refunding and disgorging any such fees
(and interest thereon) that Fidelity has already collected from them;

C. Attorneys’ fees and costs that the Harrises’ counsel have incurred in the
investigation and prosecution of this matter;

d. Prejudgment and postjudgment interest as allowed by law; and

e. Punitive damages of no less than three times the value of the reversed charges,

interest, and refunds, reimbursements, and disgorgement awarded to the Harrises and the

plaintiff class.

Dated this 16™ day of January, 2008.
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Respectfully submitted,

By:_ /s/ Johnie Patterson
Johnie Patterson
attorney-in-charge
SBN 15601700
Michael G. Walker
SBN 20717580
Miriam Goott
SBN 24048846

OF COUNSEL:

WALKER & PATTERSON, P.C.

P.O. Box 61301

Houston, TX 77208

(713) 956-5577 (telephone)

(713) 957-3358 (fax)
jjp@walkerandpatterson.com
mwalker@walkerandpatterson.com
mgoott@walkerandpatterson.com

By:_ /s/ David K. Bissinger

David K. Bissinger
State Bar No. 00790311
Gerald S. Siegmyer
State Bar No. 18343300

OF COUNSEL.:

SIEGMYER, OSHMAN & BISSINGER LLP

2777 Allen Parkway, 10" Floor

Houston, Texas 77019

(713) 524-8811 (Telephone)

(713) 524-4102 (Facsimile)

dbissinger@bizlawhouston.com

gsiegmyer@bizlawhouston.com

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFFS
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NETWORK AGREEMENT

THIS NETWORK AGREEMENT ["Agreement”) is made between Fidelity
National Foreglosore & Bavkruptey Sofations, a division of Fideltty National Title
Conipany, a Delaware corporation { Fidslity”) and hann & Stevens, P.C. (fhe “Firar™)
{eollectively the“Partiss™) :

" WHEREAS, the Fim wishes to provide to Fidelity and its Clients various Jegal
services that may include matters related to mortgage foreclosures ma bankaupteies, a8
well a5 other Joan defiault services in Texas (fhe “Frisdiction™);

WHEREAS, Fidelity wishes fo provide the Firm varioss administrative setvices
‘releied io morgage foreclosures, bankrapteies, zud pther loon defouit services; and -

- WEEREAS, each Purty wishes to provids fhese serviees to the other on the terms
and condifions set forh below;

NOW, THEEREFORE, the Parties agree as follows:

- Sertion ).  Serviees During the term of this Aprecment (fhe “Services
Period™), each Party shall provide the other with the sexviees set forth in Exhibit A ("the
“Setvices™). The Patfies agreo 10 use their best efforts to provide Strvioes in a timely and
professional manner. The Parties muy periodically agres tn weiting to add or delete
Services Hsted in Exhibit A When Services are 2dded, they shall become “Services” for
putposes of this Agreement, All Services provided by the Firm shall be in accordance
wiﬂ:aypﬁcaﬂ&mﬁtyinmumﬁs},aswanasfmﬂ,mmmm laws and
practics, The Firm is responsible for identifying auy ectual or potential condlict of
interest during the term of representation. If the Firm does not perform according 1o the
terms onfiined below, Fidelity reserves the right fo immediately remove existiog Sles
ok the Firm i ascordance with Section 15 below and discontinus refearing new fles or
othier legal matters to the Fion

7 Section2.  Referraks. The Firm acknowledges that Fidelity has the right o
enter into Network Agreements with other law firins at any time. Fidelity may decide
which defauli matters are to be referred to the Finm ("Refemrals™) and is not cbligated to
ke & mivimu muaber of Refermals o the Firm. By accepting Refersals, the Fimn
agrees fo the terms of this Agreetnent ang waives any right to assert attforney Hens or
similay charging liens for payment of services or otherwise agafnst such files, Howeves,
the Fixm shall be entitied to involce for the services readered 10 date on the file(s) and
costs, I Fidelity and/or the Client subsequently terminzies an individual refereal, the

. tmamsfer provisions of Section 15 below shall apply.

Section 3. Kees,

()  Thofess for Serviees performed are set forth in Exhibit B, Bxtibit
C, and Exlibit D (the “Fees”). These Fees are based upon govermentai, qnasi-
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governmental agency, or confractual gnidelines us of September 1, 2001 ‘The
Parties may muteally apree in writing to smend Exhibits B, C and D, Bxcept as
spmiﬁmﬂypmviﬁndhzﬁﬁn‘hihB,CaudD,aﬁSmimsshaﬂbqperﬁm&dﬁr
- flat Fess, Kmm&mmmVAm&mwfwgﬁ&eﬁnﬁ,m
2 contract is yevised, the revised fue guidelines shall become “Fees” for prrposes
memmm@wwmmmmwmm&wmmof

the revised foe gnidelines,

' L] ¥ Exkibits B, C, or D provide for the conversion to #n hourly fee,
" with the exception noted in 3(c) below, such conversion may oceur ouly after
Fidelity or the clignt has given prior written approval. '

{©)  TheFim meay convert o an howly fre when, in its discretion, it
* determines that there it 2 sirong Hikelibood that FideKity andfor the Client will
cuffer ireversible loss if immediate action is not taken. I the Finm makes such a
determination, it shell seek Fidelity's approval for the convezsion within one
‘business day, IFFidelity does not respond in a fimely manner, the Firmm may
. contact the client. IEFidelity denfes approval, the Firm is nevertheless entitled 1o
bill the emergency work completed to that point on & hourly fee basis.

(¢)  The Firm reoognizes that interest and expenses actrue daily on
sach Referal. Any reasonable penslties assessed by the Client prrsaant to
governmental penalties for fielays resulting solely from the Firm's actions oF
inaction will be paid by the Firm. Wifhout Emiting any other provisions of the
Asmeement, this provision, fogether with Ssction 15 below, shall survive
termination of the Agresment by either Pacty,

: ?

. Sectiond.  Expenses. The Fion agrees 1o advauce all fees necessary 1o mest
wmmewmhwmmcmmmm The Firm agrees that
expenses for tclephone calls, express or centified mail, postage, copying, faxing, courier
chiarges, clectropic resesrch {Lexis, WestLaw, eto.), PACER andfor Barko charges, travel
ﬁzncmdrd&ﬂdapmmmwkag@menntrdﬁammhbmmﬁedw faw, case
law or approved by the Clent, I any of these charges are required by statote, the Firm
shall so indicate, ' : - _ o

. Section5.  Peyment for Services. All invoives for services and cosis are fo
‘be submitted electronically by the Fimn via the NewlInvoice invoice processing systen, or
such oiher clectrontc invoize processing system required by the Client. The Fiem will b
paid on its Invoices directly by the Client. Inno event shatl Fidelity be deemned to be a
guarantor of, or otheswise responsible for, any obligation of the Client. Within the thirly
{30) days following each Referral, the Firm will be ivoiced separately by Fidelity for the
administrative fees set forth in Exhibits B, C and D. Said fnvoices shell be due and -
paysble within thirty (30) days of receipt by the Firm. In the event the Chent doss ot
pay an invoice generated by the Firm due to an nepligence or an exror of Fidelity, the
Fine shall wiot be required to pey Fideliy on its involce on that referral. '
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Section 6. Insursnce. The Firtn agroes to maintein in fiull force md effecta
Professionsl Lisbility Policy. ‘The nrinimus amount of coverage shult ot be Jess than
One Milion Dollzrs ($1,000,000.00) per ocowrence. The Fim shall provide proof of
mmmnmmmdeﬁw‘mmamuﬂbaﬁsaﬁda:tsm_:hoﬂmﬁmesasmay:easnnablybe
reqoested. The Fitm shall immediately notify Fidelity in writing of any changes in
coverage, or impending termination, expiration, of lapss of Tnsutance.

Recfion7.  Representstion of Clisat. For purposes of tiis
Fidelity's servicer/invesior clients {the *Client”) shall be considered the mmrual clents of
both Fidelity and the Firm, Fidelity shall he cansidered the agent of each
serviser/investor Client. The Firm will never be prokibied from direcly contacting auy
Client where, in the professional opinion of the Firm, such contact is pecessary,
Whenever possible, the Firm shall order fitle from Fidelity Natfona] Title/Chicagn
Tile/AJamo Title/Ticor Tifle/Sepurity Tnion Tille. . 7

Secion 8.  Commmmleation Between Parfics,

@  Gensml Communiontion, The Fitm shodl update AMOS web or Lenstar, when

. applicable, The Firm shall provide wiitten or electronic status reperts on
Referrals as teasonably required by Fidelity. The Fion shall responsd fo all written
or oral requests from Fidelity Acooumt Representatives within ons business day.
Likewise, Fidefity shall respond o all writtex or oral yequests fom Fim
employees within one business day. Fidelity reserves the rights and remedies

‘ wailableaﬂzwarinemﬁtyforﬂwf’xm’sfaﬂmtopexﬁommyafitsob}igaﬂons
hereunder, :

() Updates. Fidelity shall peritdically provide the Firm policy and procedure
changes in the form of a Fidelity Netwerk Update (“Update”). The Updats shnil
be sent fo the Firm either by facsimile or clectronic mail, The Update shall be
sent 1o the facsimile nuiber or e-mail addresses oted in the Notice Section
below. The Firm agrees fo incorporaté these Updates with the existing policies
and procedures. The tenms of any Update shall apply to the Parties ss of the
effactive Gate indicated in the Update, The Finn tekes fill responsibility for

*  disseminating the information o its stafl. The Fiern shell promptly bring to the
¥ . attention of Fidelity any isane, claim or dispute which may have important legal,
public relations or policy implcations for the CHent,

Section 9.  Annual Yoformation. The Finn shall provide Fidelity with the
following information of as aunual basie: () Firm resume; (b) a fis of all persommel
working on Refercals, zlong with cach individual’s title; {c) & Hst of the states of all
attorneys mad professionals with the Firm, fncluding bar registutions, and my
disciplinary notices or procesdings; mnd {d) a Yetter certifying thet the statements in
Section 12(i) and (1) ars correct.

Section 10.  Consplete Information, Fidefity shall filly cooperate with the
Fimmn and meke & good fuith effort to promptly provide the Firm with sil relevent
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information on each Referral. The Fimm will review the information provided to cosue
that it is sufficient to process each Refereal, If the Firm believes thaf the information is
i Tete, the Finn will immediately request the missing information from Fidelity. A
referral mﬁ&ﬁwmﬁmhemﬁdwedwmphwunﬁlaﬂnﬁmmmwk
received from Fidelity or dhe Client

Seetion 11.  Coafifentisiity. Privileged information supphed to the Fim by
Fidelity shall be kept confidential in accordance with applicable nifes of professional
vonduct. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to fhe conirary, the Firm shall
comply with all privacy and data protection ks, mles, and regulations which are or
which mey in the fatuse be applicabls & the Services. ‘The Firm agroes that it will keep
confidential and will ot use nor disclose to any oiher party any nonpublic personal
information which it receives from or on behalf of the Chisat in connettion with -
providing Services under this Agreemend, except 1o perform Setvices wnder this :
Agreemaut. ‘The terpy “nonpublic personal infmmation” shall have the meanings set forth
in Section 309 of the Gramns-Leach Biiley Act (P.L. 106-102X15 US.C. Section 6809
and implementing repnlations thereof. These obligations shail survive termivation of this
Agreernent. .

Secfion12, Equsl Opportanity. The Parties agees that they shall not
discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, cresd,

* cblor, age, sex, national origin, maritzl status, Fability for service in the anmned forces,

X

dingbility dus to veteran status, sietus 25 2 veleran of the Vietnam ers, or the hendienpped.
‘The Pazties ﬁuﬁumﬁmﬁwshﬂcmplywﬂhantmmm of the Equal
Opporkanity Clause set forth in Executive Order 13246, a5 amended, and is

) fne instroctions, zs well as the Rehebilitntion Aot of 1973 and the Vielnan Era

implementing
{eterans® Readjustment Assistenco Act of 1974, The Parties certify they do not and shall 5

not maintain faciiities for their employees in 2 segrepated manner or permit their
smployees o pecform their strvices at any {ocafion under thejr control where segregated o

7 '!'ticsa;em' tned

Section 13, Anthorization; Bindine Apreesent; Good Standing. Fidelity
and the Fimmeach have full power and authority jo cxeculs and deliver this Agreement
and fo perform its obligations hereunder, This bas been duly executed and
delivered by the Firm and Fidelty snd constitntes a Jegal, valid and binding cbligetion, -
enforcesble against the Finn and Fidelity according fo its temos. Neither the Firm, nor -
emy partner, memher, offfcer, sttomey or exgployse of the Firm {i) has been or i currently
mdhrinmﬁgaﬁmhngwmaﬁalmﬂmﬁtyarpmfcsﬁamlmgaﬁzaﬁon for any
aliegod violmtion or breach of spplicable rules or eade of professional sesponsibility, any
applicable codes of ethics, or any applicable mies of moral or sthical condnet that are
promulgated by = state contt, regulatory ageacy or professionsl Hoensing entity, or (i)}
has'been convisted of or is under investigation for any crime involving moral tarpitude,
The Firm will comply with sll Jows, rules and codes described in (7) and (i) ebove, and
shafl immediately notify Fidelity if the Firm, or auy of its representatives, is being
investigated for or viclates any law or applicable nile of professional conduot.

gaxon 0194
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Section 14,  Nutices. Am'mﬁpﬁmqmdbythisﬁxgrmnmshalibein
- writing and delivezed by registersd nazil, overnight contier servios, telox, telepraph or
elefax commumicetion, sddressed as follows:

" Inthe onse of Fideliy:

* Fidelity Nations] Foreclosure & Bankmptey Solutions
1270 Northland Drive, Suite 200

. Mendota Heights, MN 55120

- Atention: Lawrence C, Dingmoan, .
Telefox: {651)234-3560)
E-muik by dingmeon@ffs et

Tn the case of the Fiom:

Mann & Stevens, P.C. _
550 Wesleoit Sirest, Suite 560
Housion, Fexas 77007

Atiention: - Dizoa Stovens
Telephone: (713) 283-3600

Teefor  (713) 293-3636 , :
E-mail: dstevens(@bmstexas cor and jmann@hbnsieras.com

m#wchothﬂaddrmc&pmonsasa?mtymydcsignalcinwrhing.;&ﬂwnﬁdﬁnﬁal 4
mnespandemem&mwbommmawmmdimea@nnbymmﬁandmaymt : .
be sent via facsimile : #

© Section1S. Terminafion. Ifa Party breaches auy term or condition of this
Agreement, or Fils to perform any obligation conteined in this Agraement, then the non-
. defaniting Party may immediately tomminate fhis Agrecment upon written notice, This
Agrwm:nlisaisotwmimb!auponaﬁdayswdttenﬁoﬁcabydthw?aﬂyatmyﬁmefm’
any veason. 1f the Fir ternsinates this Agreemeat, it will take such reasonabe steps 23
 are tiecessary to profoct the inferests of both Tidelity and the Client, I{'the Finnis
dimutedtomhmanyera!!ﬁl:;githaﬁxmshz_ndosnwithhﬁvsﬁ)ﬁﬂlbminess davs
From xeceipt of sals request, along with 2 substitution of attorney / substitution of trustee.
AT oxiginal documents, corxespondence, angd pleadings shall be refumed with the file, 2t
no expenss to either Fidelity. The Clieni shall be responsible for all shipping chrges, In
addition, upon completion of the {ile by substitnte counsel, the Firm shall render a finad
bi1 for ite fee in peoordance with the atiached Schedule D, The Fitm scknowledges that
the Firm's Yegal file, together wifh all docurments, papers end finds beld in connection
with any of the Services provided, remain the sole property of the Client and must
promptly be retumed 1o Fidelity upon terminefion. ¥ the event the Fiom refuges to
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promptly retorn said files zs requested, the Firm ngrees it will be lizble for any reasonsble
Yoss inoomed solsly by the Finm.

Section 16, Indemnification, The Firm agrees to iodenuify and hold
im:ml&sﬁdc&tyanditsﬂﬁmﬂﬂndemﬁﬁaﬁ?arﬂﬁ?toﬂm%smfwﬁlhm
T'he Firm will fally reimburse the Indemmified Parties for any loases, liabilities, penaliies,
émamexpmsw.muﬂm‘hmmminjurywhimﬁmindmiﬁeﬁPuwmathnr
suffer, or which mzy be asserted by any person or entity, including, but not Hmited to,
reasonable atiomey’s fees and court costs proximately caused solely by negligence ot
intentionatfy wrongfnl condust of the Finm. “I'he Firm also sgrees 10 indemnify the
Indemnified Parties for failizs fo meet sy predotenmined time frames/deadlines rnd
mmawmmbymwmpmmywmmwmgﬁgmm

. imtentionally wrongfu! condvot of the Firm. .

{r) = Dutside Comnsel, The Fire assames 21l sesponsibility for the avts and oroissions
dmyomﬁemlm“ofmmsd"mwhedbyﬂ:eFm(formk,cmmsel .
retained to assist in Bigation or counse] retained to malcs coart appearances in
remote cotmties), The Fion assurmes al responsibility for any subcontractor or
independent comtractor engaged directly by the Firm. :

(b} Exooss Fees. The Fim shall refmburse the Client for any fees which are i excess

" of the agreed schedale of fees or which exceed any amomnt allowed by applicsble

govmemﬁgnmsﬁnﬁmmggmedwbymmmﬁvmhargmmpmﬂm
resulting from violations or ecrors will be the sols responsibility of the Firm.

. Bection 17, Snwmanﬁgﬁgg" 8. 'This Agreement is binding upon and
inures to the benefit of the Partics and their respentive parinets, hoirs, executors,
adminisirators, representatives, successors, and peritted assigns,

.7 Section18. Asshgmment. No rights or obligations of cifher Party may be
assigned to any other person or entity withont the prior writien consent of the other.

, ' Section 19, . MisceBanevus. This Agreement contains the cutire wadsestanding
of the Parties. No provision may be allered, anaended, modified, waived or discharged in ’
amy way, txoept by written agreement of both Parties. Xfany provision of this Agrecment
is found to be void or nnenforcesble, the remainder of fhis Agrecment shall not be

Section 20, Termination of Prior Agreement. Thit Agreement, including 21l
Exhibits, contains the entire Agrezment between the Parties relating to the subject matter
heeof. All prior Agreements and ell prior negatiations, representations, and
comrmeications refating to the same subject matter are superseded by this Agreement,
except 85 to provisions ralating to Fidelity's obligation 1o pay Mann & Stevens, P.C, for
invoices generated batween Apdl B, 2000 and Angust 31, 2001..

Mavdy
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IN WITNESS WHEREQF, mrmammmmwmm Fdayof
Septembes 2601,

FIDELITY NATIONAYL FORECLOSURE & MANN & STEVENS, P.C.
HANKRUPTCY SOLUIION&. ] mﬁm of

3

By: Proco. &rm%w
Disnn Estala Stevens
President and Sharsholder
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e EXHIBIT A

FIDELITY NATIONAL FORECLOSURE SOL UTIONS NETWORK SCHED ULE OF SERVICES

STATE: Texas
FIRM: Marm & Stevens (“Firm™)
DATE: October 2, 2007

SECTIONY. _ SERVICES PROVIDED BY THE FIRM TO FIDELITY

A, The Firm shall provide Fidelity and its clients with competent legal representation on - all
_ Referrals, including adherence to appropriate standards of professional conduct;

B. The Firm shall provide Fidelify and its clients with legal representation in a manner
' consistent with, and in compliance with, Fidelity’s stendards and procedures;

C. The Firm shall provide Fidelity and its clients with expertise and knowledge related to the
law and legal practice in the Jurisdiction and notifying Fidelity of changes in law related to

~ the law and practices related to the Referrals;

D. In the state of Texas, the Firm shall institute foreciosure proceedings in such manner as is
required by the applicable investor guidelines, and take all the steps necessary to bring the
foreclosure to sale within 60 days after the matter is referred by Fidelity to the Finm, unless
either: (i) the borrower files for bankruptey; or (if) Fidelity and the Firm nutually agree an
event has occurred which has caused 2 permissible delay in the foreclosure;

E. In connection with bankruptcy Referrals; the Firm shall, upon request by Fidelity: (i) attend
341 hearings; {ii) object to the debtor’s plan; (iii) file a motion for adequate protection; (iv)
file & motion for relief from stay; {v) process 2 consent order/stipulation; (vi} prepare and
send demand letters; and (vii} process other reasomable requests by Fidelity;

e : F. The'Firm shall follow these fimeframes for bankruptey Referrals: (i) file a motion for relief

from stay within 5 days after receipt of the Referral, unless a particular client requires a
different timeframe; (i) communicate motion filing and hearing results to Fidelity within 24
hours, and email final orders immediately upon receipt; and (i) obtain relief from stay within
45 days after receipt of the Referral, uniess Fidelity and the Firm agree an event has occurred
which has caused 2 permissible delay in the bankruptcy;

G. In connection with replevin actions, the Firm shall follow the timeframes and comummnication
requirements as provided by Fidelity’s standards and procedures; and

H. The Firm shall update AMOS web or Lenstar, where applicable.

SECTIONIL SERVICES PROVIDED BY FIDELITY TO THE FIRM

A, Fldehty shall maintain a national network (“Network™) of service oriented attomeys who
handle Referrals;

Fidelity shall develop and implement marketing services to obtam clients for the Network;
Fidelity shall prepare and deliver complete Referral packages to the Firmy

Fidelity shall monitor the Referrals for compliance with investor and client due diligence
guidelines; '

Fidelity shall facilitate client communication and provide per event, per loan and portfolio
specific reports to clients regarding Referral status;

Fidelity shall maintain loan data and documentation in client files and computer systerns;
Fidelity shall facilitate judgment figure calculations, as applicable;

Fidelity shall calculate and process the VA 567 form and moaintain the rcsponsxbﬂtty on
providing this to the VA in the appropriate timeframes, when applicable; C

U0

e

Saxon 0198 -



“Case 08-03014~ Document 1~ Filed in TXSBon01/16/2008 © Page 33 of 36

EXHIBIT A

FIDELITY NATIONAL FORECLOSURE SOLUTIONS NETWORK SCHEDULE OF SERVICES

SECTION IL S_ERWCES PROVIDED BY FIDELITY TO THE FIRM

L

J.

Fidelity shall facilitate the calculations of 2l bids and provide them to the Firm in a timely

HIAGNET;
Fidelity shall prepare and mail all HUD Occupancy letters to the rortgagor, mortgagee and

HUD, as applicable;
Fidelity shall facilitate the ordering of 21l broker’s price opinions and appraisals, and provide

them to the appropriate parties, when applicable;
Fidelity shall maintain all direct contact with the loan servicing customer and work with the

customer on processing appropriate information requested by the mortgagor. Such cases

- would include working with the collection/loss mitigation department on approval for Deed

£

DD.

QEPNKKI<OHBRED ¥ O 2 

in Liey’s, short pays and repayment plans and the like; A
Fidelity shall maintairi contact with investors, agencies, mortgage insurance companies and
other appropriate signatory offices to obtain executed documents needed in the foreclosure,

bankruptey, or other action; :
Fidelity shall request all VA cut off extensions if advised by the Firm that we are unable to

meet the required timeframes, when applicable;
Fidelity shall request all HUD first action extensions if advised by the Firm that we are

unable to meet the required timeframe, when applicable;
Fidelity shall prepare and track the filing of any Proof of Claim required in an “applicable
bankruptey; : '
Fidelity shall oversee the plan review process in connection with an apphcabkz bankruptey;
Fidelity shall compile figures and financials for any bankruptcy Referral;

Fidelity shall assernble the loan documents for any bankruptcy Referral;

Fidelity shall compile, scan, and email all necessary information to the Firmy,

Fidelity shall monitor the status of an applicable motion for relief from stay;

Fidelity shall assist in the research of billing inquiries and breakdowns;

Fidelity shall order valuations, as applicable;

Fidelity shall facilitate the calculation of post petition and contractual reinstatement figures;
Fidelity shall approve agreed order terms;

Fidelity shall frack and menitor agreed order payments;

Fidelity shall track and review the final bankruptcy order,

. Fidelity shall, when requested, close the client’s bankruptcy tracking system;

Fidelity shall provide direction to the Firm for institution or reinstifution of a foreclosure
action after the appropriate bankruptcy issues have been resolved to permit same, when
applicable;

Fidelity shall monitor the status of a replevin action, when applicable;

Fidelity shall endeavor to standardize all processes and procedures requisite to managing
defaulted loans from its multi-loan servicer, multi-platform customer base to provide

operational and communication efficiencies to the Firm.
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(v g EXHIBIT B -
FIOETTTY NATIONAL FORECLOSURE S ON
NETWORK FEES FOR SERVICES SCHEDULE FOR MERITECH

Stater Tewas
Firm: Man & Stevens
Date: March 27, 2002

Feey Paid by AHy
PFoey Bitfed to Client to Fidelity
{Client Apount) {Admin Passy*™>

L. Foreclosure Fees*

A. Freddis Mac $500.00 $125.00
B. FHA E 2550.00 $125.00
C VA ‘ £550.00 $125.00
D. Fannie Mas §550.00 $125.00
R, Ofher Loon Types $550.00 $125.00
I Evictien Feﬁ

A, Freddje Mac £300.00 57500
B FOA $300.00 - $75.00
C VA Phectedby VA Directed by VA
D. FaunieMae 5275.00 §75.00
B -Other Loan;rypes £300.00 £75.00
HI, Peedin Lien of Foreclogure

A, Freddie Mac $200.06 $30.00
B. FHA $350.00 350.00
C. va 3350.00 £30.00
D. Fanmie Mue $350.00 $50.00
E. Orber Loan Types $350.00 ‘ $50,00
* NOTE: For loans not aubjeet tn G.5.B. or Govemnment Aguney prescribed fat fees, FNMA, foe capy

will apply.
Uncontested Home Equity Judicia] Foreclosures are $1,100.00 with 2 $125.00 Adminisiative Fee,

IV, Additional Regnests

A. Demend Letter (per letier) §35.00 $0.08
B, Ixafling Missing Dotaments 50.00 36.00
C.  Tifle Claim Demumd Letter 512500 30.00
D. LostNote Affidavit $35.00 30,06

Poge tof 2

Saxon 0200




Case 08-03014 Document1 Filed in TXSB on 01/16/2008 " Page 35 of 36

@, unonar rorecrosus s
' FIDE NATIONAL FORECLOSURE S ONS
‘NETWORK FEES FOR SERVICES SCHEDULE FOR MERITECH

_ Fess Paid by Atty
Fees Bitled to Chent to Fidelity
{CHent Amount) {Admin Fees)**
E. Wonstanderd Pez Hour Fes §125.00 30.60
¥, Al Other Costs Pass Throngh £0.00
V. Bankyupiey Fees
1. Objection to Plan/Defenze of Proof of Claim
a, Objection Resolved , $200,00 $50.00
b. Eile Review - 100,60 350,00
2. Movion for Relief:
(a) Mt Complers $600,00 £150.60
(b) Mifr prepped or filed $400.00 $100.00 .
 (s) File Review $200.00 $100.00
3, Motiom for Relief (FHLMUC Chapler 7) ,
© (a) MFR Complete $400.00 $100.00
. (B) MER prepped o filed $300.00 310000
: {c) File Review $200.00 $100.00
4, Agreed Order Dafaulty :
a. Notice of Defiult .+ "
b. Final Affidavit of Defauil 50.00 $0.00
¢, Ex Parte Order ' $0.00 $0.00
5, Addirional Hearings, Por Hesving ' 3ias00 - §000
6. Houly Pees (includes conmdommns) 7 3125.00 50,00

*= Firm will not be in_yoieéd for an admin fee on any FNMA or FELMC fRe referred pursuant to the
FNIYEA or FHLMC desigonted counsel program. _

#T'o be pald by chent from first corg fands sent bry debior

. Approved and Apreed toby 2= 1 -
- ' Droco Binta. Shereie,
_{%, Fouw v Dletkns, P
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: EXHIBIT C
FIDELITY NATIONAL FORECLOSURE SOLUTIONS NETWORK MODIFIED FEE SCHEDULE

STATE: Texas
FIRM: Mann & Stevens (“Firm™)
DATE: COctober 2, 2007

If Fidelity provides the Firm with either written or oral notice to stop a foreclosure at any time prior to the
sale of the real property being completed, then the Fees paid to the Firm pursuant to Exhibits B shall be
modified as outlined in this schedule. THE FIRM WILL BE BILLED THE FULL
ADMINISTRATIVE FEE REGARDLESS OF WHEN THE FORECLOSURE IS TERMINATED

OR TRANSFERRED. |
SECTION L. FERS FOR NON-TUDICIAY. FORECLOSURES

Event _ Modified Fee
A File received by Firm and title ordered/received 30% of tﬁe fee
' described in Exhibits B & C
B. Foreclosure documents prepared, service 60% of the fee
is awaiting publication/posting described in Exhibits B & C
C. Upto az:;d including publication started ' ‘ -90% of the fee
S described in Exhibits B & C

SECTION 1. __FEES FOR JUDICIAL FORECLOSURES

described in Exhibis B & C

Eyent ' Modified Fee
A. File in, up to 2nd including tifle ordered/recetved 30% of the fee
described in Exiubits B& C
B. Up to and including complaint drafted/sent/filed 50% of the fee
described in Exhibits B & C
C. Up to and including service started/completed 70% of the fee
- : described in Exhibits B & C
D. Up to and including judgment sent/entered 90% of the fee
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